RECEIVED

06-20-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 17AP002480CR

Milwaukee County Cir. Court Case No. 2014CF3661

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARTEZ C. FENNELL.

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, SENTENCE, AND THE DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED BY BRANCH 30, MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN PRESIDING

CORRECTED BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

URSZULA TEMPSKA
State Bar No. 1041496
Law Office of U. Tempska
P.O. Box 11213
Shorewood, WI 53211
414-640-5542
U_tempska@yahoo.com
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. THE POSTCONVICTION COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED FENNELL'S INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIM WITHOUT HOLDING A *MACHNER* HEARING

> The trial court did not address this issue. The postconviction court answered: no.

II. FENNELL'S CONVICTIONS
ARE MULTIPLICITOUS
CONTARY TO DUE PROCESS

The trial court did not address this issue. The postconviction court answered: no.

III. FENNELL'S CONVICTIONS ARE
BASED ON JURY INSTRUCTIONS –
WIS. JI-CRIMINAL 140 -- THAT
IMPERMISSIBLY REDUCE THE
STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF,
CONFUSE THE JURY,
AND OTHERWISE VIOLATE
DUE PROCESS

The trial court did not address this issue. The postconviction court answered: no.

IV. THE SENTENCING COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED SENTENCING DISCRETION

The trial court did not address this issue. The postconviction court answered: no.

V. NEW TRIAL IS WARRANTED IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE BECAUSE THE TRUE CONTROVERSY WAS NOT FULLY TRIED

The trial court did not address this issue. The postconviction court answered: no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Fennell does not request oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication would be warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23, because this case presents an opportunity to correct an error in Wisconsin's criminal jury instructions defining the State's burden of proof that violates defendants' fundamental due process.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Criminal Complaint charged Martez C. Fennell ("Fennell") with one count of armed robbery, PTAC, by threatening to use a dangerous weapon; and one count of operating a motor vehicle without owner's consent, PTAC. (1). Both counts concerned a car-jacking that occurred in June 2014. Id.

Fennell was tried before a jury. The car-jacking victim testified and in-court identified Fennell as the armed robber. The officer who took the victim's statement immediately after the car-jacking did not testify, although the victim in her statement denied seeing the armed robber's face. Fennell testified. (67, 68, 69, passim.)

After the standard Wis. JI—Criminal 140 instruction (hereafter "JI-140") was given with both parties' agreement,

Fennell was found guilty on both counts. (25.) He was sentenced to a total of 12 years (9 + 3), for the respective counts) of initial confinement and 9 years (6 + 3) extended supervision. Id.

He timely filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief and motions for postconviction relief (with exhibits) raising, inter alia, ineffectiveness of counsel and constitutional errors in JI-140.¹ (28, 40-43, 54).

The postconviction court denied relief without a hearing, and denied reconsideration. (53, App. 2-7; 55, App.1.).

This appeal challenges the validity of the conviction, inter alia because trial counsel provided ineffective assistance; and challenges the denial of postconviction relief without a *Machner* hearing, as well as of the remaining claims for relief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Both charges stem from a nighttime incident, on June 21, 2014, on Milwaukee's North Side, in which a young car owner/driver, A. R., while sitting curbside in her car, was robbed of that car at gunpoint. (1.) A.R. quickly left the scene and, once safe, she called the police and reported to Officer Paloma Winkelmann as follows: two robbers approached her car and one threatened her with a gun; she was scared, stared at the gun, did not see his face, so could not describe it; she generally described his height and skin color. Id. Officer

¹ Fennell filed a Motion for Postconviction Relief, a Reply to the State's Response to such Motion, and -- after the initial denial of postconviction relief -- also a Motion to Reconsider the Denial of Postconviction Motion. (39, 50, 54.)

Winkelmann in a report memorialized A.R.'s post-robbery statements. (40.) ("Report")

A.R. later twice talked to the police. The first time she did not identify Fennell in a photo line-up, but the second time she identified him. (67:113 et seq. (A.R.'s trial testimony).)

During trial, A.R. identified Fennell in court and denied having told the police that she never saw the gunwielding robber's face because, fear-gripped, she looked at the gun during the car-jacking; she testified that she had seen the robber's face. (67:95-131.) ²

Defense counsel planned to impeach A.R.'s credibility and her identifications of Fennell (as the gun-wielding robber) with her initial denial of seeing the robber's face, by presenting testimony of Officer Winkelmann who had taken the initial post-car-jacking statement from A.R. and wrote the Report. But after being not being properly served with a subpoena, Officer Winkelmann did not appear to testify, so counsel could not impeach A.R.'s identifications with Winkelmann's testimony or Report. (69: 3-4, 25-27.) Counsel attempted impeachment by referring to Winkelmann's Report when cross-examining A.R., but A.R. denied that she had made the denials memorialized in the Report. (67:103-105.) The Report (40.) was not introduced into evidence.

Fennell testified. He proclaimed his innocence of the car-jacking. He innocently explained certain prosecution evidence, including the presence of his I.D. alongside A.R.'s

² A.R.'s testimony differed from her earlier statements to the police in several other ways, e.g. regarding the color of the robbers' car, the color of a robber's T-shirt, and how a robber got hold of her phone. (39:12.)

cars keys in the home that belonged to Fennell's grandmother (who reported finding foreign items in her home). Fennell testified that he was watching grandma's home in her absence, but other family accessed the house too, and they engaged in criminal activities; Fennell knew of such activity, but did not participate knowingly. (69:5-24.)

The jury rendered "guilty" verdicts. Although this was Fennell's first criminal case, he was sentenced to a total of 12 years of initial confinement and 9 years of extended supervision. (25.)

Postconviction, Fennell raised the same issues as in this appeal. (39, 40, 41, 42, 54.) After court-ordered briefing, (47, 50.), the circuit court denied relief without a hearing (53, App. 2-7.); then did so again, after Fennell sought reconsideration. (55, App. 1.)

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE POSTCONVICTION COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED FENNEL'S INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIM WITHOUT HOLDING A *MACHNER* HEARING

A. Standard of review.

This court reviews *de novo* the legal question of whether the motion alleges sufficient facts to entitle the movant to a hearing; and reviews the discretionary decisions of the circuit court under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. See *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶9, 274 Wis.2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433.

B. Fennell made sufficient allegations in postconviction court to create factual questions regarding the "reasonableness" of counsel's *various* actions/inactions.

The postconviction court is required to hold an evidentiary hearing on ineffectiveness claims when the movant alleges sufficient facts in the motion to raise a question of fact for the court. *State v. Toliver*, 187 Wis.2d 346, 360, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994) (citation omitted).

Upon properly exercising discretion, the circuit court may deny a motion without a hearing when the motion contains insufficient allegations, is conclusory, or the record conclusively demonstrates that the movant is not entitled to relief. *State v. Romero-Georgana*, 2014 WI 83, ¶30, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 849 N.W.2d 668.

The question for this court's *de novo* review is: did Fennell's allegations in post-conviction court raise a question of fact warranting a *Machner* hearing. *Toliver*, 187 Wis.2d at 360. Fennell asserts that they did.

Post-conviction, Fennell argued counsel's ineffectiveness, inter alia, in not securing (via properly served subpoena) and not presenting the credibility-impeaching testimony of Officer Winkelmann, who took A.R.'s statement minutes after the car-jacking, in which A.R. denied having seen the face of the armed robber who took her car, and memorialized that statement in her Report. (39, passim; 40).

Fennell specifically alleged in postconviction court that his acquittal had hinged on the issue of the credibility/reliability of A.R.'s late identifications of Fennell

as the armed robber (in a photo array and again in court), which identifications were contradictory to A.R.'s prior statements to the police. (39: 1-2, 11-14.)

Fennell specifically alleged that trial counsel planned to challenge the identifications as unreliable, and to impeach A.R.'s credibility, by introducing evidence of A.R.'s initial denial of seeing the robber's face. (39:11-13; 40:5.) ³

Fennell specifically alleged that in his opening remarks trial counsel prepared the jury for this strategy and the supporting testimony from Officer Winkelmann:

... the question . . . is whether or not . . . the person's identification of my client beyond a reasonable doubt that he was the one who did it....

...The evidence will be that . . . [A.R.] called the police, they came just about right away, and she gave an interview to the police including a description of the two people that robbed her car. . . . I'll ask you at the end of the trial to look at . . . the quality and the ability to make an identification to describe a person at the scene and then to see how that relates back to a photo identification...

...

At the conclusion of the trial, it's going to be our position that there is insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the identification removes all reasonable doubt that has Mr. Fennell here as the person that stole that vehicle...

(39:11 (quoting 67:87-90 (emphasis added)).)

By specifically pointing to this opening Fennell alleged, postconviction, defense counsel's reasonable

³ The State's opening did not mention A.R.'s initial post-carjacking statement, where she admitted never having seen the gunman's face.

strategy/theory of defense: showing that A.R.'s identifications did not eliminate reasonable doubt, by impeaching them with A.R.'s initial denial – to Officer Winkelmann -- of having seen the robber's face.

Fennell specifically alleged, postconviction, that implementation of this strategy was derailed by counsel's failure to subpoena Winkelmann properly, making her unavailable to testify and preventing admission of her Report into evidence. (39:12-14.)

Fennell specifically alleged that counsel admitted failure in his "obligation" to secure/present Winkelmann's testimony and the trial court found counsel's actions unreasonable and not legally proper. ((39:12-13) (citing 69:3-4).) ⁴

Fennell, post-conviction, detailed that the defense rested without objecting; and subsequently, in closing, the prosecutor made inaccurate arguments and statements about A.R.'s reliability and credibility that would have been refuted by the admission of Officer Winkelmann's testimony and her Report. (39:12-13.)

Based on the above-summarized specific allegations, Fennell argued post-conviction that counsel's failures were unreasonable and deficient; and prejudiced Fennell by preventing him from impeaching A.R.'s identifications and her credibility/reliability generally, consistent with the defense's pre-selected reasonable and promising strategy. Id.

-8-

⁴ Counsel admitted he had been "hoping that the State had subpoenaed him [sic.]" "yesterday." Counsel referred to officer Paloma Winkelmann as though she were a male, using the pronoun "he," for reasons unclear from the record. The court continued this erroneous form of address. Id.

Fennell submits that the above-summarized specific allegations, made post-conviction, created sufficient factual questions regarding the "reasonableness" of counsel's *various* actions/inactions to warrant a *Machner* hearing.

C. The postconviction court erroneously exercised discretion in denying relief without holding a *Machner* hearing.

Proper exercise of discretion is "a process of reasoning based on the facts of record and reasonable inferences from those facts, and a conclusion supported by a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards." *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis.2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). Proper exercise of discretion requires that the court rely on facts of record, the applicable law, and, using a demonstrable rational process, reach a reasonable decision. *Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, P28; 629 N.W. 2d 698.

Fennell submits that the postconviction court erroneously exercised discretion in denying an evidentiary hearing and postconviction relief upon erroneously finding:

- (1) that counsel's deficiencies did not prejudice Fennell because the jury "heard" about A.R.'s initial statement to the police (denying having seen the robber's face) through trial counsel's questions; and
- (2) that "the outcome of the trial would have been no different had Officer Winkelmann testified as to what the victim told her at the time of the incident."

The jury are presumed to follow the jury instructions. *State v. LaCount*, 2008 WI 59, ¶23, 750 N.W.2d 780 (jurors are presumed to follow instructions given by courts). The jury

were instructed to follow the jury instructions as given, and to base their verdict *only on "evidence,"* with "evidence" defined as *excluding counsels' statements, remarks*, etc. (69:28-29; 69:38:15-23).

No evidence was presented of A.R.'s initial statements to Officer Winkelmann, which would impeach A.R.'s later identifications of Fennell and A.R.'s credibility in general. No impeachment evidence (of prior inconsistent statements) was presented. Therefore, the jury is presumed not to have considered A.R.'s alleged statements to Winkelmann as relayed by trial counsel: because that was not evidence. LaCount, 2008 WI at ¶23.

A.R.'s identifications *were* in evidence, unimpeached. And A.R.'s *denials* of her (self-impeaching) statements to Winkelmann *were in evidence*. Therefore — based on the instructions received — the jury presumptively, as instructed, considered the identifications and the denials as *evidence*, and made verdicts accordingly. *LaCount*, 2008 WI at ¶23. A.R.'s identifications and denials were found credible because they stood *unimpeached* with *evidence* of A.R.'s prior inconsistent statements to Winkelmann.

Proper exercise of discretion -- including reliance on "applicable law, . . . a demonstrable rational process, . . . [and producing] a reasonable decision," *Martindale*, 2001 WI at P28 -- compels conclusions contrary to those of the postconviction court.

The postconviction court's findings and conclusions, (53:3-4, App. 4-5.), demonstrate misused discretion because they are clearly contrary to the controlling law of *LaCount*, *Martindale* and *McCleary*, in that they rely on these *unreasonable inferences and determinations*:

- The jury *would not* consider A.R.'s fresh postrobbery statements to Winkelmann (denying that A.R. ever saw the face), if introduced as rebuttal evidence through Winkelmann and her Report, to be more credible/reliable than A.R.'s later identifications and testimony.
- Contrary to the jury instructions, the jury *did* consider A.R.'s statements to Winkelmann -- relayed in trial counsels *questions*, but then denied by A.R. -- as proper evidence.
- Because the jury heard about A.R.'s impeaching statements to Winkelmann *through counsel* (thus not via "evidence") and still found Fennell guilty, then Fennell could/would not benefit from actual admission into evidence of such statements and would still have been convicted if the jury *had* heard and seen (as evidence) Winkelmann's testimony about A.R.'s denials of having "seen the face" and the Report memorializing them.

See McCleary, 49 Wis.2d at 277 (properly exercised discretion includes drawing "reasonable inferences" from the facts of record and a "conclusion supported by a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards").

When the jury were instructed that A.R.'s statements to Winkelmann were *not* evidence when relayed by counsel and that *only evidence could be considered in deciding guilt/innocence*, it is irrational and contrary to law to claim that the jury *did* treat such statements as evidence, as the postconviction court does.

The findings and conclusions of the postconviction court may not stand because they rest on *un*reasonable

inferences from "appropriate facts," are not based on "the correct law," and are not conclusions "which a court reasonably could have reached." *State v. McConnohie*, 113 Wis.2d 362, 370, 334 N.W.2d 903 (1983).

Fennell asks this Court to remand to circuit court with directions to set this matter for a *Machner* hearing.

II. FENNELL'S CONVICTIONS ARE MULTIPLICITOUS, CONTRARY TO DUE PROCESS.

A. Standard of review.

The question of whether there is a multiplicity problem is one of law which this court reviews *de novo*. See *State v. Woods*, 117 Wis.2d 701, 715, 345 N.W.2d 457, 465 (1984) (constitutional questions reviewed independently).

B. Fennell's conviction for Count 2 is identical in law and in fact to his conviction for Count 1.

In *State v. Davison*, 2003 WI 89, 263 Wis. 2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1, the supreme court reviewed the "established methodology" for reviewing multiplicity claims:

First, the court determines whether the charged offenses are identical in law and fact using the *Blockburger* test. If it is determined, using this test, that the offenses are identical in law and fact, the presumption is that the legislative body did not intend to punish the same offense under two different statutes. "Accordingly, where two statutory provisions proscribe the `same offense,' they are construed not to authorize cumulative punishments in the absence of a clear indication of contrary legislative intent."

Id., \P 43-45 (citations omitted).

The *Blockburger* test inquires whether "each provision requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not." *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932). Courts must "consider whether each of the offenses ... requires proof of an element or fact that the other does not." *State v. Derango*, 2000 WI 89, ¶ 30, 236 Wis. 2d 721, 613 N.W.2d 833.

If, under *Blockburger*, charges are not identical in law and fact, there is no potential double jeopardy violation. See *Davison*, 263 Wis. 2d 145, ¶¶ 33, 46. The remaining multiplicity question is then: whether there is a due process violation. A due process violation is present if "the legislature did not intend to authorize multiple convictions and cumulative punishments." Id., ¶46. *Davison*, at P.50, provides guidance for this legislative intent inquiry:

As we seek legislative intent in a multiplicity claim, the court does not stop at the language of the subsection. Instead, we analyze four factors to determine legislative intent: (1) all applicable statutory language; (2) the legislative history and context of the statute; (3) the nature of the proscribed conduct; and (4) the appropriateness of multiple punishment for the conduct.

Multiplicity arises when a single criminal act encompasses the elements of more than one distinct statutory crime. *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 401-02, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998).

When two charges are "identical in law and in fact", then charging both is unconstitutional, *State v. Grayson*, 172 Wis. 2d 156, 159, 493 N.W.2d 23 (1992), as well as contrary

to Section 939.66, *State v. McKinnie*, 2002 WI App 82, P.6, 52 Wis.2d 172, 642 N.W.2d 617. ⁵

Fennel's convictions of both Count 1 and 2 present a multiplicity violation. The underlying charged criminal conduct -- intentionally taking and driving away A.R.'s vehicle from her, without her consent (while threatening armed force) -- encompasses elements of *two distinct statutory crimes*:

- in Count 1 under Section 943.32(2), the core elements of "armed robbery" of person of her vehicle, commonly known as carjacking; and
- in Count 2 under Section 943.23(2), the elements of "taking and driving a vehicle without owner's consent."

The overlapping elements of count 1 and 2 are: (a) intentionally taking the vehicle (which is "property"); (b) intentionally carrying the vehicle away (by driving away in it); and (c) with knowledge of non-consent, because "with intent to steal" in count 1 includes knowledge of non-consent. This is the complete list of elements of Count 2, and a partial list of elements of Count 1.

The offense in Count 2 is identical in law and in fact to the offense in Count 1, and Fennell's convictions of both violate double jeopardy and Section 939.66(1). The crime in Count 2 is the same in law and fact as the crime in Count 1 because Count 2 does not require proof of any element not also required to prove the crime in Count 1. *Blockburger*, 284 U.S. at 304 (1932); WIS. STAT. § 939.66 (1).

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