### RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **08-31-2018**

#### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

### Case No. 2017AP2480-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARTEZ C. FENNELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, PRESDING

### BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

# A. Fennell forfeited his multiplicity challenge by not objecting at trial.

Failure to object at trial generally precludes appellate review of a claim, even a claim of constitutional dimension. *E.g.*, *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶¶ 10–11, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. See State v. Pinno, 2014 WI 74, ¶¶ 56-66, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207, cert. denied, Pinno v. Wisconsin, 135 S. Ct. 870 (2014) (claimed denial of the structural public trial right at voir dire was forfeited by failure to timely object). This includes double jeopardy challenges. The United States Supreme Court has long held that appellate review of alleged double jeopardy violations may be waived. United States v. Broce, 488 U.S. 563, 570-74 (1989). See State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, ¶¶ 2, 19–26, 28–30, 34, 38–42, 52, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 (a guilty plea waives any double jeopardy challenge in a case where further fact-finding is needed). A multiplicity challenge is waived by the failure to timely object. State v. Koller, 2001 WI App 253, ¶¶ 41–44, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838.

To properly preserve an objection for review, the litigant must "[A]rticulate the specific grounds for the objection unless its basis is obvious from its context... so that both parties and courts have notice of the disputed issues as well as a fair opportunity to prepare and address them in a way that most efficiently uses judicial resources." *State v. Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d 164, 172–73, 593 N.W.2d 427 (1999) (citations omitted).

This Court may only address waived or forfeited errors under its discretionary reversal authority set out at Wis. Stat. § 752.35, *State v. Beasley*, 2004 WI App 42, ¶ 17 n.4, 271 Wis. 2d 469, 678 N.W.2d 600; or in the form of a challenge to the effectiveness of trial counsel for not objecting, with the burden of proving both deficient performance and actual prejudice squarely on the defendant. *Pinno*, 356 Wis. 2d 106, ¶¶ 81–86; *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 375 (1986).

Fennell does not seek discretionary reversal on the ground that the charges were multiplicitous or claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not arguing that the charges were multiplicitous. He has forfeited the claim.

# B. The law applicable to a claim that charges are multiplicitous

The Double Jeopardy Clause proscribes putting a defendant twice in jeopardy "for the same offence." U.S. Const. amend. V. The protection against being twice put in jeopardy applies both to successive prosecutions for the same criminal offense and multiple punishments for the same offense. United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 695–96 (1993); North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969), overruled on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith, 490 U.S. 794 (1989); State v. Steinhardt, 375 Wis. 2d 712, ¶ 13; State v. Kurzawa, 180 Wis. 2d 502, 515–16, 509 N.W.2d 712 (1994); State v. Johnson, 178 Wis. 2d 42, 48–49, 503 N.W.2d 575 (Ct. App. 1993).

A double jeopardy challenge based on a claim that charges are multiplicitous is analyzed under a two-part test. The first part, derived from *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299 (1932), requires the court to determine whether the two offenses are identical in law and in fact. State v. Derango, 2000 WI 89, ¶ 29, 236 Wis. 2d 721, 613 N.W.2d 833. If they are, then the charges are multiplicitous. Id.

If they are not, then the court proceeds to the second part of the test and determines whether the state legislature intended to permit separate charges for the defendant's separate acts. See Derango, 236 Wis. 2d 721, ¶ 29. If the charges are not identical in law or in fact, there is a presumption that the state legislature intended to permit multiple charges and cumulative punishment for both offenses absent clear evidence of a contrary intent sufficient to overcome that presumption. Id. ¶ 30; State v. Swinson, 2003 WI App 45, ¶ 28, 261 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 12. This is consistent with federal double jeopardy law as determined by the United States Supreme Court. Garrett v. United States, 471 U.S. 773, 779 (1985); Missouri v. Hunter, 459 U.S. 359, 368 (1983); Albernaz v. United States, 450 U.S. 333, 340 (1981).

The court must determine (1) whether the charged offenses are identical in law and fact, and (2) if not identical in law and fact, whether the Legislature intended that multiple offenses be brought only as a single count. *Steinhardt*, 375 Wis. 2d 712, ¶ 14; *Derango*, 236 Wis. 2d 721, ¶ 29; *State v. Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 739, 746, 580 N.W.2d 329 (1998).

Charged offenses are not identical in fact if the facts supporting each charge are either separate in time or of a significantly different nature. *Steinhardt*, 375 Wis. 2d 712, ¶ 19; *State v. Nommensen*, 2007 WI App 224, ¶ 8, 305 Wis. 2d 695, 741 N.W.2d 481. They are of a significantly different nature if each requires proof of a fact that the other does not. *Swinson*, 261 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 31. They are significantly different in nature if each requires a "new volitional departure in the defendant's course of conduct." *Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d at 750 (citation omitted). C. Armed robbery and car-jacking are not the same in law or in fact.

### 1. Car-jacking and armed robbery are not the same in law.

Fennell's argument jumps the tracks when it begins with the false premise that the stolen "property" in question was only A.R.'s car. (Fennell's Br. 14.) That is not how the case was charged or tried. The stolen "property" included A.R.'s car *and all of her personal property inside of it*. It also included her cell phone.

Car-jacking and armed robbery have entirely different statutory elements. Armed robbery under Wis. Stat. § 943.32(2) has the following elements:

(1) A.R. was the owner of property, meaning that she possessed it;

(2) Fennell took and carried away property from the person or presence of A.R.;

(3) Fennell took the property with the intent to steal, meaning that he had the intent and purpose to take and carry away the property without the owner's consent with the intent to deprive her permanently of possession;

(4) Fennell acted forcibly, meaning that he threatened the imminent use of force against A.R. with the intent to compel her to submit to the taking and carrying away of her property;

(5) Fennell used or threatened to use a dangerous weapon, including a firearm, at the time he took and carried away A.R.'s property. (R. 14:3–5; 69:31–34.) Wis. JI–Criminal 1480.

Taking and driving away a vehicle without the owner's consent under Wis. Stat. § 943.23(2) has the following elements:

(1) Fennell intentionally took a vehicle without the owner's consent;

(2) Fennell intentionally drove the vehicle without the owner's consent;

(3) Fennell knew that the owner did not consent to the taking and carrying away of the vehicle. (R. 14:6–7; 69:34–35.) Wis. JI–Criminal 1464.

Obviously, one need not take and drive a "vehicle" to commit an armed robbery. The "property" taken in a robbery could be a vehicle, but it could also be anything else possessed by the victim. One can take and drive a vehicle without acting forcibly by threatening the imminent use of force against the owner. One can take and drive a vehicle without using a dangerous weapon. One can take and drive a vehicle without intending to permanently deprive the owner of its possession. These two crimes are, obviously, not the same in law.

### 2. Car-jacking and armed robbery are not the same in fact.

Fennell did not need to steal a car to commit armed robbery. Fennell intentionally took and drove A.R.'s car without her consent. He knew that A.R. did not consent to the taking and driving away of her car. That made him guilty of violating Wis. Stat. § 943.23(2). He did not need to use or threaten force, or point a gun, to commit this offense.

Fennell took and carried away "property" possessed by A.R. That included her car, but also all of her personal items inside the car, including her purse and everything inside of it. It also included A.R.'s cell phone that Fennell forcibly snatched out of her hand and carried away. It even included the keys to the ignition. *See State v. Johnson*, 207 Wis. 2d 239, 242, 558 N.W.2d 375 (1997) (emphasis added) (the State failed to prove the "asportation" (carrying away) element of armed robbery when it failed to prove "that either [the victim's] automobile *or its keys* were ever moved, even slightly"). Fennell threatened the use of force at gunpoint with the intent to permanently deprive A.R. of the possession of all of her property. He did so to compel A.R. to submit to the taking and carrying away of her property. That made Fennell guilty of armed robbery in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.32(2).

There is no doubt that Fennell intended to permanently deprive A.R. of her personal possessions that Fennell intentionally took and carried away. When A.R. called the cell phone that Fennell intentionally and forcibly took from her hand, demanding that the thieves return all of her stolen property, the male voice on the other end responded: "Fuck you, bitch, you're not getting your items back." (R. 67:108.) Fennell was guilty of armed robbery once he snatched A.R.'s cell phone from her hand at gunpoint and then took the rest of her personal property inside the car without her consent and with the later-expressed intent never to return it.

Fennell could have, for example, told A.R. to take everything out of her car that she wanted to keep before he drove off. He could have let A.R. keep her cell phone and handed A.R. her purse from the backseat before taking her car. Or, he could have dumped A.R.'s personal items on the street a block away in the belief that she or someone else would find them. Instead, Fennell (or someone acting on his behalf) later answered A.R.'s call on the stolen cell phone and told her that she would never get her personal property back.

These two crimes were not, therefore, the same in fact. Fennell had plenty of time to reflect on his actions and change his mind in the four days that passed between taking A.R.'s personal property and deciding to keep it at his grandmother's house even after A.R. demanded that he return it. On reflection, Fennell decided to keep her personal items, and he did not return or abandon her car. *Swinson*, 261 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 32.<sup>2</sup>

These offenses required proof of different elements, different facts, and separate volitional departures by Fennell. Because these offenses are not identical either in law or fact, the law presumes that the Legislature intended to permit multiple punishments. *Steinhardt*, 375 Wis. 2d 712, ¶ 24. Fennell has presented nothing to overcome that presumption or to prove that the Legislature did not intend to authorize multiple punishments. *Beasley*, 271 Wis. 2d 469 ¶ 21. He does not even try. (Fennell's Br. 17.)

Fennell makes the absurd argument that he had no idea any of the victim's personal property was inside her car. (Fennell's Br. 16.) Wrong. He at least knew about the key to the ignition and the other personal items on her key chain that he took and kept at his grandmother's house. (R. 67:104–05, 112; 68:86.) He took A.R.'s cell phone right out of her hand. A.R.'s purse was on the backseat presumably in plain view when Fennell took the car. (R. 67:104.) A.R.'s purse and its contents were never recovered. (R. 67:110–11.) No doubt Fennell took anything of value out of it and threw the purse away.

Even if Fennell did not know what specific personal property was inside the car the moment he took it, he learned of it soon thereafter and kept some of her personal property at his grandmother's house. A.R. even gave Fennell the chance to return it, and thereby avoid an armed robbery charge, but he (or whoever answered the cell phone he stole

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Fennell could have reduced his liability for car-jacking from a felony to a misdemeanor had he abandoned the car without damage within 24 hours. Wis. Stat. § 943.23(3m). Instead, he (or a cohort) crashed it, thereby permanently depriving A.R. of its possession. (R. 16:1; 67:108–09.)

from her) told her she would never get her property back; i.e., he intended to permanently deprive her of its possession.

### D. Fennell had plenty of notice that he was charged with taking both A.R.'s automobile and her personal property.

Fennell complains that he did not have sufficient notice that the armed robbery charge would encompass A.R.'s personal property. (Fennell's Br. 16.) This claim is utterly meritless because the criminal complaint gave him plain notice that the armed robbery charge encompassed her personal property. The complaint alleged as follows:

Inside her vehicle was her purse containing her Wisconsin DL and \$100 cash [A.R.] stated that she had her government cell phone in her hand at the time of the robbery and the gunman snatched it from her before she ran. She later called her cell phone and a male answered. She asked why he was answering a stolen phone and he stated, "Yeah, what are you going to do about it?" and hung up. [A.R.'s] mother also called the phone and when the male answered she asked where the car was. The subject answered, "It's with me, Bitch" and hung up the phone.

At no time did [A.R.] consent to having her car *and property* taken at gunpoint.

(R. 1:2 (emphasis added)); (R. 1:2–3 (alleging that police recovered from Fennell's grandmother's house, "two of [A.R.'s] credit cards, her Auto Zone card and a CVS discount card").)

Finally, Fennell is in no position to complain that he lacked notice the armed robbery charge would encompass A.R.'s personal property because he never objected after this evidence was presented by the State at trial in much the same form as it was alleged in the complaint. Moreover, if Fennell erroneously convinced himself that both charges related only to the taking and driving away of A.R.'s car, Fennell did not object to those charges as being the same in law and fact, making them multiplicitous. Had he objected, this all would have been addressed by the trial court in a timely and orderly fashion. Fennell would have been quickly disabused of any misunderstanding. That is why Fennell was required to object and why this Court should hold that he forfeited any right to complain that the charges were multiplicitous when he chose not to object to how the case was either charged or proven at trial. *Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d at 172–73; *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶¶ 41–44.

### III. Fennell forfeited any right to challenge on appeal the constitutionality of the pattern jury instruction on "reasonable doubt," Wis. JI– Criminal 140.

Fennell complains that the trial court erred when it read Wis. JI–Criminal 140 to the jury. He argues that the instruction's admonition to the jury, "you are not to search for doubt, you are to search for the truth," shifted the burden of proof from the State to him.

Hidden at page 28, footnote 12 of his brief is Fennell's grudging acknowledgment that his trial counsel did not bother to object to the instruction or offer an alternative instruction before or at trial. (R. 69:37, 62.) Fennell does not argue that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the pattern instruction. Fennell argues, nonetheless, that the trial court committed reversible error by not *sua sponte* eschewing this time-honored instruction. This is patently absurd.

### A. Fennell forfeited any appellate challenge to Wis. JI–Criminal 140.

As with his multiplicity challenge, Fennell did not see fit to object to Wis. JI–Criminal 140. This deprived the trial court of the opportunity to address the issue and draft an alternative instruction if it was persuaded by Fennell's argument. He forfeited any right to appellate review of this constitutional challenge. *Huebner*, 235 Wis. 2d 486, ¶¶ 10– 11; *Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d at 172–73.

Fennell does not argue that his trial attorney was ineffective for not objecting. Counsel is not ineffective for deciding against objecting to an approved pattern jury instruction. *State v. Traylor*, 170 Wis. 2d 393, 404–05, 489 N.W.2d 626 (Ct. App. 1992); *State v. Teynor*, 141 Wis. 2d 187, 218, 414 N.W.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1987). *Compare State v. Hawthorne*, Nos. 2014AP1566 & 2014AP1567, 2015 WL 2192981, ¶ 32 (Wis. Ct. App. May 12, 2015) (unpublished), R-App. 113 (rejecting ineffective assistance challenge for failure to object to the "search for truth" language in Wis. JI–Criminal 140 because it is "simply not the case" that this language shifted the burden of proof to the defendant). This Court should decline review of this forfeited constitutional claim.

### B. This Court has no authority to overrule the Wisconsin Supreme Court precedent upholding Wis. JI–Criminal 140.

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